
 

 
Christiansburg Planning Commission 

 Minutes of February 18, 2014 
 
 
Present: Matthew J. Beasley 
 Ann H. Carter 
 Harry Collins  
 Ashley Cowen 
 M.H. Dorsett, AICP 
 David Franusich (arrived at 7:30 p.m.) 
 Jonathan Hedrick 
 Steve Huppert 
 Craig Moore, Chairperson (arrived at 7:15 p.m.)  
 Joe Powers, Vice-Chairperson  
 Jennifer D. Sowers (arrived at 7:30 p.m.) 
 Nichole Hair, Secretary Non-Voting 

 
Absent:         none 

    
Staff/Visitors: Missy Martin, staff 
  Cindy Wells Disney, Montgomery County Planning Commission 
 David Smith, 2790 Roanoke Street 
 Linda Hylton, 2790 Roanoke Street 
 Dennis Dowdy, 2790 Roanoke Street 
 Jennifer Lawrence, 10 Patricia Lane 
 Laura Justice, 2790 Roanoke Street 
 Glenwood Martin, 1230 Roanoke Street 
 Becky Cook Mann, 1200 Roanoke Street 
 Dana Chudzik, 1230 Roanoke Street 

    
Vice-Chairperson Powers called the meeting to order at 7:05 p.m. in the Christiansburg 
Town Hall at 100 E. Main Street, Christiansburg, Virginia to discuss the following items:  
 
Public Comment. 
  

Vice-Chairperson Powers opened the floor for public comment. Hearing no public 
comments, Vice-Chairperson Powers closed the public comment period. 
 

Approval of meeting minutes for January 13, 2014. 
 
Vice-Chairperson Powers introduced the discussion. Commissioner Dorsett made a 
motion to approve the Planning Commission meeting minutes. Commissioner Carter 
seconded the motion, which passed 8-0.   
 



February 18, 2014 Page 2 

Public hearing for a Conditional Use Permit request by Holiday Lodge, Inc. for a 
dancehall at 2790 Roanoke Street (tax parcel 501 – ((5)) – 2) in the B-3 General 
Business District. 
 

Vice-Chairperson Powers introduced the discussion.   Ms. Hair stated the application 
is for a dancehall in association with a restaurant.  Ms. Hair commented the 
applicant is in attendance.  Mr. David Smith stated he has applied because the 
Huckleberry had been there for 20 plus years.  Ms. Linda Hylton read a petition 
which has received over 350 signatures.  Ms. Hylton stated the intent is to provide a 
safe environment and arrangements have been made with the Super 8 will allow 
patrons to stay in the hotel at half price.  Ms. Hylton added it is the desire of the 
applicant to serve the community with poker runs and events for the Fire Department 
and Rescue Squad.  Ms. Hylton stated there has been confusion over why TJ’s Pub 
and Grill was allowed to operate without going through the public hearing process 
and not being required to add a sprinkler system.  Mr. Dennis Dowdy stated there 
has been confusion over the use type of a restaurant with a dance floor.  Mr. Dowdy 
added the Huckleberry opened in 1984 and operated almost continuously before a 
new tenant took over the building.  Mr. Dowdy stated TJ’s Pub and Grill opened a 
few years ago before closing in December.   
 
Ms. Jennifer Lawrence stated she has lived on Patricia Lane for years during which 
time she has endured loud noise and intoxicated people walking on Roanoke Street.  
Ms. Lawrence added she has safety concerns regarding the dancehall. 
 
Ms. Laura Justice stated there is only one entrance to the Wagon Wheel and she 
disputes the complaint over noise.  Ms. Justice stated there is a different crowd now 
compared to TJs. 
 
Vice-Chairperson Powers requested the applicant meet with staff to clarify issues.  
Vice-Chairperson Powers indicated he would like to have the Building Official to 
attend the next meeting with the building drawings submitted.  Vice-Chairperson 
Powers requested feedback from Chief Sisson including any reports of noise 
complaints and any incidents in relation to the business location. 
 
Ms. Justice stated the band is cut off at midnight on Friday and Saturday nights and 
then the business is closed between 1 a.m. and 1:30 a.m. 
 
Ms. Lawrence stated she has continued to hear the music even with the change in 
ownership. 
 
Ms. Anita Griffith stated she first attended the Huckleberry and also attended TJ’s.  
She added there was an issue with motorcycle gangs but the Wagon Wheel intends 
to be family oriented. 



February 18, 2014 Page 3 

Public hearing for a Conditional Use Permit request by Holiday Lodge, Inc. for a 
dancehall at 2790 Roanoke Street (tax parcel 501 – ((5)) – 2) in the B-3 General 
Business District – (continued). 

 
Commissioner Collins inquired about what is located on the property now.  Mr. Smith 
stated it is a restaurant with dancing on Friday and Saturday night.  Mr. Smith stated 
the restaurant is open two and a half days, being open on Sunday night from 6 p.m. 
to 10 p.m. 
 
Commissioner Hedrick inquired if the applicant was under the impression the former 
lease was running a dancehall.  Mr. Dowdy stated he was unaware there was a 
difference between a restaurant and a dancehall. 
  

Conditional Use Permit request by Twin Oak Properties, L.L.C. for a commercial garage 
at 1230 Roanoke Street (tax parcel 498 – ((7)) – 17 and 18) in the B-3 General 
Business District. 

 
Chairperson Moore introduced the discussion.  Mr. Glenwood Martin stated this in 
the former United Muffler location.  Mr. Martin added Power Zone had been located 
in the building recently but that business has expanded and moved out.  Mr. Martin 
added the building was designed for a commercial garage.  Commissioner Collins 
inquired about the addressing of the two buildings.  Mr. Martin indicated there are 
two separate addresses.   
 
Commissioner Powers stated there is always a concern of inoperable vehicles with 
commercial garages.  Mr. Martin stated as part of the lease, all vehicles must be 
removed in 60 days.  Commissioner Huppert inquired about the number of parking 
spaces available.  Mr. Martin stated there are 9 spaces in the front with the two bays 
and additional parking in the rear of the property.  Mr. Dana Chudzik stated there will 
not be issues with old cars and parts on the property because he would like to 
compete with other repair shops.  Mr. Chudzik added he will be adding slates to the 
fence to keep vehicles hidden behind the fence. 
 
Ms. Becky Cook Mann stated she owns the adjoining property and has no objections 
to the request.   
 
Chairperson Moore read the drafted conditions: 

  
1. The property is to be maintained in a clean, sanitary, and sightly manner. 
2. This permit is for a commercial garage, not a body shop or towing service or for 

conducting bodywork. 
3. All parts, including faulty parts, tires, etc. are to be kept inside the garage or a 

fully enclosed building (including a roof) until disposal. 
4. All waste petroleum products and/or chemicals are to be disposed of properly 

and are not to accumulate upon the premises.  Provisions are to be made for the 
capture of leaking petroleum products and/or chemicals. 
 



February 18, 2014 Page 4 

Conditional Use Permit request by Twin Oak Properties, L.L.C. for a commercial garage 
at 1230 Roanoke Street (tax parcel 498 – ((7)) – 17 and 18) in the B-3 General 
Business District – (continued). 

 
5. There will be no storage of vehicles upon the premises except for vehicles 

occasionally left for repair.  All vehicles left for repair are to be kept on-premises 
and not within any public right-of-way or adjacent property.  All vehicles on the 
property are to have a State inspection decal that is either valid or dated within 
90 days of its expiration. 

6. Mechanical work is to be done inside the building and not outside. 
7. There are to be no loud offensive noises so as to constitute a nuisance to the 

residential properties in the vicinity. 
8. There are to be no discernible noises to residential properties in the nearby 

vicinity between 7:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. 
9. This permit shall be revocable for violations of Chapter 4 “Advertising” of the 

Christiansburg Town Code occurring on the property. 
10.  All towed vehicles and/or vehicles left for repair are to be store inside the 

building. 
11. This permit is subject to inspections and approval of the facilities by the Fire 

Marshall and Building Official. 
12. This permit is subject to the requirement of a site plan to be reviewed and 

approved by Town staff. 
13. This permit shall be subject to review by the Planning Commission in one year. 

 
Ms. Hair sated number 10 should be stricken because number 5 addresses the 
storage of vehicles.  Ms. Hair also indicated a full site plan for the property will not be 
required, but verification of the parking and landscaping required for the property will 
need to be done. 
 

Other business. 
 
Chairperson Moore introduced the discussion.  Commissioner Huppert presented 
information from a tourism training he attended.   
 
Ms. Hair noted the agenda reflected an error in the meeting time and apologized for 
the error.  The public hearing items and meeting were correctly advertised with the 
local newspaper and on the Town’s website. 
 
Ms. Hair requested guidance on three Code items.  The Commission agreed the 
Development Subcommittee could review those items. 
 
   

There being no more business Chairperson Moore adjourned the meeting at 8:45 p.m. 
 
 
 
_______________________________ _______________________________ 
Craig Moore, Chairperson    Nichole Hair, Secretary Non-Voting 



 

 

 
Christiansburg Planning Commission 

 Minutes of March 3, 2014 
 
 
Present: Matthew J. Beasley 
 Harry Collins  
 Ashley Cowen 
 M.H. Dorsett, AICP 
 David Franusich  
 Jonathan Hedrick 
 Steve Huppert 
 Craig Moore, Chairperson  
 Joe Powers, Vice-Chairperson  
 Nichole Hair, Secretary Non-Voting 

 
Absent:          Ann H. Carter 
   Jennifer D. Sowers 
     

Staff/Visitors:  Kali Casper, staff 
   Jerry Heinline, Building Official 
   Chief Mark Sisson, Police Chief 
   Chief Billy Hanks, Fire Chief 
    David Smith, 2790 Roanoke Street 
   Linda Ince, 270 Robert Street 
   Tammy Germany, 215 Robert Street 
   Sherri Collins, 450 Tower Road 
   Greg Duncan, 500 Roanoke Street 
   Linda Hylton, 2790 Roanoke Street 
   Laura Justice, 2790 Roanoke Street 
   Glenwood Martin, 1230 Roanoke Street 
   Several others 
  
Chairperson Moore called the meeting to order at 7:01 p.m. in the Christiansburg Town 
Hall at 100 E. Main Street, Christiansburg, Virginia, following the pledge of allegiance, to 
discuss the following items:  
 
Public Comment. 
  

Chairperson Moore opened the floor for public comment. Hearing no public 
comments, Chairperson Moore closed the public comment period. 
 

Approval of meeting minutes for February 18, 2014. 
 
Chairperson Moore introduced the discussion. Commissioner Dorsett made a motion 
to approve the Planning Commission meeting minutes. Commissioner Cowen 
seconded the motion, which passed 9-0.   



March 3, 2014 Page 2 

 

Public hearing for a rezoning request by Mark Willard for property located at 205 Robert 
Street, S.E. tax parcel 527 – ((17 BK A)) – 29R) from B-3 General Business to R-2 Two-
Family Residential.    
 

Chairperson Moore introduced the discussion.  Greg Duncan indicated he was the 
applicant’s cousin and wishing to build a single-family home that would blend into 
the neighborhood.  Ms. Germany of 215 Robert Street asked if it would be a single-
family home and asked how to prevent flooding to the neighboring houses as that lot 
has standing water.  Chairperson Moore asked if the Town has received complaints 
regarding that lot.  Ms. Hair responded no.  Ms. Ince of 270 Robert Street responded 
that she has lived there for 12.5 years and the lot has always been flooded.  
Commissioner Powers asked to see the property on the map.  Commissioner 
Powers asked about the zoning designation.  Ms. Hair responded the parcel is 
zoned business.  Commissioner Dorsett asked if it was from the last rezoning where 
a line was drawn adjoining Roanoke Street.  Ms. Hair responded that was more than 
likely.  She added the lot is approximately 80 feet wide and can only accommodate a 
single-family home, but the request is for R-2 zoning since that is the adjoining 
zoning.  With no more speakers, Chairperson Moore closed the public hearing.   
 
Commissioner Huppert asked where the neighbors live on the map.  The neighbors 
identified their locations.  Commissioner Huppert asked about the flooding concern.  
Ms. Germany noted the lot sits down low and there is the potential for flooding.  
Commissioner Collins asked about how the applicant will deal with stormwater.  Mr. 
Duncan noted the street has curb and gutter, any runoff will be directed from the 
house into the street system.  Ms. Hair added it will be reviewed in the development 
process and be discussed further with Engineering.  Chairperson Moore asked if 
there were any proffers being made regarding a single-family home.  Ms. Hair 
indicated there are no proffers but the lot constraints would only allow for a single-
family home.   
 
Commissioner Dorsett made a motion to recommend to Town Council the rezoning 
request for approval.  Commissioner Beasley seconded the motion.  Commissioner 
Huppert asked about speaking with Mr. Walters from Engineering first.  
Commissioner Cowen noted a business use could be built currently.  Commissioner 
Dorsett noted the stormwater issues are generally dealt with during lot grading and 
the building permit process.  Commissioner Moore noted residential use would be a 
more restrictive land use.  He added a rezoning would be in accordance with the 
Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map.  The motion passed 9-0. 
 

Conditional Use Permit request by Twin Oak Properties, L.L.C. for a commercial garage 
at 1230 Roanoke Street (tax parcel 498 – ((7)) – 17 and 18) in the B-3 General 
Business District. 
 

Chairperson Moore introduced the discussion and reviewed the drafted conditions.  
1. The property is to be maintained in a clean, sanitary, and sightly manner. 
2. This permit is for a commercial garage, not a body shop or towing service or for 

conducting bodywork. 



March 3, 2014 Page 3 

 

Conditional Use Permit request by Twin Oak Properties, L.L.C. for a commercial garage 
at 1230 Roanoke Street (tax parcel 498 – ((7)) – 17 and 18) in the B-3 General 
Business District – (continued). 

 
3. All parts, including faulty parts, tires, etc. are to be kept inside the garage or a 

fully enclosed building (including a roof) until disposal. 
4. All waste petroleum products and/or chemicals are to be disposed of properly 

and are not to accumulate upon the premises.  Provisions are to be made for the 
capture of leaking petroleum products and/or chemicals. 

5. There will be no storage of vehicles upon the premises except for vehicles 
occasionally left for repair.  All vehicles left for repair are to be kept on-premises 
and not within any public right-of-way or adjacent property.  All vehicles on the 
property are to have a State inspection decal that is either valid or dated within 
90 days of its expiration. 

6. Mechanical work is to be done inside the building and not outside. 
7. There are to be no loud offensive noises so as to constitute a nuisance to the 

residential properties in the vicinity. 
8. There are to be no discernible noises to residential properties in the nearby 

vicinity between 7:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. 
9. This permit shall be revocable for violations of Chapter 4 “Advertising” of the 

Christiansburg Town Code occurring on the property. 
10. This permit is subject to inspections and approval of the facilities by the Fire 

Marshall and Building Official. 
11. This permit is subject to the requirement of a site plan to be reviewed and 

approved by Town staff. 
12. This permit shall be subject to review by the Planning Commission in one year. 
 
Commissioner Dorsett made a motion to recommend to Town Council the 
Conditional Use Permit be approved with the drafted conditions.  Commissioner 
Hedrick seconded the motion.  Commissioner Huppert asked the applicant if the 
conditions were acceptable.  Mr. Martin responded yes.  The motion passed 9-0. 
 

Conditional Use Permit request by Holiday Lodge, Inc. for a dancehall at 2790 Roanoke 
Street (tax parcel 501 – ((5)) – 2) in the B-3 General Business District. 

 
Chairperson Moore introduced the discussion.  Chairperson Moore asked if the 
Town has received any correspondence.  Ms. Hair noted the attorney clarification, 
building plans, and police data are included in the Planning Commission packet and 
noted the Building Official, Police Chief, and Fire Chief are all in attendance to 
answer questions.  Commissioner Collins asked the applicant about the percentage 
of food versus beverages.  Mr. Smith responded approximately 75% food and 25% 
beverages.  Commissioner Collins asked about the age for entrance into the 
establishment.  Mr. Smith responded the age is 21.  Commissioner Powers asked if 
the 75% versus 25% is in dollar amounts. Mr. Smith responded yes.  Commissioner 
Collins asked about the petition and if the people under 21 had been to this location.  
Ms. Hylton clarified anyone 21 and under can eat in the restaurant. 

  



March 3, 2014 Page 4 

 

Conditional Use Permit request by Holiday Lodge, Inc. for a dancehall at 2790 Roanoke 
Street (tax parcel 501 – ((5)) – 2) in the B-3 General Business District – (continued). 

 
Commissioner Collins asked about designated drivers the applicant proposed to 
use.  Ms. Hylton responded the ABC discouraged the business getting involved in 
providing drivers.  Commissioner Collins asked about the hours for alcohol sales.  
Ms. Hylton responded 6 p.m. to 2 a.m.  Commissioner Collins asked when the band 
stops playing.  Ms. Hylton responded 1 a.m.   
 
Commissioner Collins asked about security on the premises.  Mr. Smith responded 
there are bouncers.  Commissioner Collins asked Chief Sisson if the applicant would 
be responsible for actions of people in their building.  Chief Sisson responded that 
criminally they would not be responsible but may be found responsible in civil 
litigation.  Commissioner Collins asked about procedure for noise complaints.  Ms. 
Hair noted the Planning Commission can include conditions regarding noise.   
 
Commissioner Collins asked if the Police Department has any sort of permits for this 
type of business.  Chief Sisson responded no.  Commissioner Dorsett asked about 
noise levels and complaints.  Chief Sisson responded the Police Department has 
investigated complaints.  He added the statistics provided are for the last 5 years at 
2790 Roanoke Street, which includes 3 different bars and the hotel.  Chief Sisson 
noted there have been a few drunk in publics, which are typical of a bar but no other 
issues have been documented with the current business owners.  He added there 
was one noise violation in the last five years but there are more than that in 
residential neighborhoods daily.   
 
Commissioner Franusich asked about a comparison with the rest of Town in terms 
of call volume.  Chief Sisson stated historically there has been increased call volume 
associated with the property.  Commissioner Hedrick asked if the data showing 18 
ambulance calls is typical of hotels.  Chief Sisson responded that over a 5 year 
period, it is typical.  Commissioner Hedrick asked about the rationale behind a 5 
year time frame.  Chief Sisson responded the data is what is currently available 
without a hand search of records.  Commissioner Powers noted it is approximately 
30 calls a year and asked if that amount is typical of a commercial establishment.  
Chief Sisson responded that it is likely close to typical.  He noted the call volume will 
increase with a bar.  Commissioner Huppert asked about the average age of 
clientele.  Ms. Hylton said they range from 21 to 80 years old.  She added the 
clientele is different and no longer a biker bar.  Commissioner Hedrick asked if any 
additional security measures have been considered.  Ms. Hylton responded they 
need to consider them if approved.   
 
Commissioner Collins asked if smoking was permitted.  Ms. Hylton said not in the 
building.  Commissioner Collins asked about an emergency evacuation plan.  Ms. 
Hylton said there are five exits and all are posted.  Commissioner Collins asked if 
Chief Hanks has any concerns from his visit.  Chief Hanks responded no concerns 
and that it seemed orderly.  He added they refused service to an intoxicated 
individual.   



March 3, 2014 Page 5 

 

Conditional Use Permit request by Holiday Lodge, Inc. for a dancehall at 2790 Roanoke 
Street (tax parcel 501 – ((5)) – 2) in the B-3 General Business District - (continued). 

 
Commissioner Huppert asked about the number of people allowed in the 
establishment.  Mr. Heinline noted in 2011 the previous applicant requested to 
operate as a bar.  Mr. Heinline added ‘bar’ is a generic term that does not apply to 
the building code; instead there are nightclubs and restaurants.  The applicant 
wanted to operate as a restaurant and so tables were required to be placed on the 
dance floor.  Commissioner Huppert asked how many people are permitted.  Mr. 
Heinline responded there can be 193 people as a restaurant based on 5,000 square 
feet of the building.  He added anything exceeding 99 people for a nightclub must 
have a sprinkler system and anything exceeding 300 people for a restaurant must be 
sprinkled.  Commissioner Hedrick asked if the establishment included a sprinkler 
system.  Ms. Hylton responded there is not a sprinkler system as they do not own 
the building and the owner will not add one.  Commissioner Collins asked how many 
people would be allowed if the tables were removed from the dance floor.  Mr. 
Heinline responded it would then be considered a nightclub and could only have 99 
people.  Commissioner Dorsett asked about expanding the restaurant.   
 
Ms. Hylton responded regarding the 10% dance floor area.  She added they plan to 
expand to 12,000 square feet.  Mr. Heinline responded that a sprinkler would be 
required with expansion.  He added a restaurant with more than 5,000 square feet 
must also be sprinkled.  Commissioner Hedrick asked for clarification on the number 
of people allowed.  Mr. Heinline responded 99 people as a nightclub and 193 people 
as a restaurant.  Ms. Hair indicated per the Town Attorney, the 10% area does not 
apply to zoning and building but gives localities the ability to require permits and 
other licenses for a dance hall.   
 
Ms. Hylton asked about continuing live entertainment as a restaurant.  Mr. Heinline 
responded yes with tables on the dance floor.  Mr. Heinline reviewed the process for 
a change of use within the building code.  Commissioner Dorsett asked if the 
establishment has always been a nightclub.  Mr. Heinline responded it may have 
operated that way but was not permitted as a nightclub.  He noted that it was 
permitted as a restaurant.  He added it has not had building code safety issues to his 
knowledge.   
 
Commissioner Hedrick asked about any regulations regarding charging to enter a 
restaurant.  Mr. Heinline responded nothing in the building code.  Ms. Hylton noted 
they were misled by the previous tenant.  Mr. Heinline added the previous tenant 
was not forthright with the Town.  He noted the building plans stamped by an 
architect show the layout as a restaurant.  Commissioner Franusich asked about 
how to enforce proper usage.  Mr. Heinline suggested securing the tables to the 
floor.  Commissioner Huppert asked about a ratio of tables.  Mr. Heinline responded 
it can be designed numerous ways as long as it complies with the building code.   



 March 3, 2014 Page 6 

 

Conditional Use Permit request by Holiday Lodge, Inc. for a dancehall at 2790 Roanoke 
Street (tax parcel 501 – ((5)) – 2) in the B-3 General Business District (continued). 

 
Commissioner Powers asked about the 5,000 square foot threshold for a sprinkler 
system.  Mr. Heinline responded it would be required for anything over 5,000 square 
feet and has since 1978.  Commissioner Franusich asked if they were 
grandfathered.  Mr. Heinline responded yes and the previous tenant was restricted 
from using the upstairs.  He added one of the inspectors did not know of this 
previous requirement.  Commissioner Powers asked if the landowner has been in 
contact regarding this.  Mr. Heinline has spoken with Mr. Dowdy once about this.   
 
Ms. Hylton asked if they could have more people as a restaurant than a nightclub.  
Mr. Heinline responded yes.  Commissioner Powers noted it would require a 
sprinkler system due to the size.  Mr. Heinline responded it is grandfathered.  
Commissioner Powers asked if restaurant could be expanded.  Mr. Heinline 
responded it would require a sprinkler system if it was expanded.  Commissioner 
Cowen asked if the applicant still wants a conditional use permit if they are limited to 
99 people.  The applicants responded no.  Mr. Heinline explained the safety 
concerns an inherent in a nightclub.  Commissioner Hedrick noted he will be 
abstaining from the vote as his church is adjacent to this location.  He added that the 
area is more developed than previously.   
 
Mr. Heinline noted the property could continue to operate as a restaurant.  Mr. 
Heinline added the building code considers the primary use of the building.  Multiple 
commissioners asked for clarification regarding what constitutes a nightclub.  Mr. 
Heinline noted the music creates the nightclub.  Commissioner Franusich asked for 
further clarification.  Commissioner Dorsett concurred.  Mr. Heinline and Chief Hanks 
clarified the building code defines it as “any building in which the main use is a place 
of public assembly that provides exhibition, performance or other forms of 
entertainment; serves alcoholic beverages; and provides music and space for 
dancing”.  Commissioner Dorsett noted without a dance floor, it could be a 
restaurant with live music.  Commissioner Hedrick asked for further clarification.  Mr. 
Heinline and Ms. Hair noted the building code looks at the primary use of the 
building.  Mr. Heinline reviewed the definition again.  Commissioner Dorsett asked 
for clarification.  Ms. Hair responded it is regarding the main use of the building.  
Chief Hanks noted some localities issue two use groups to some buildings as they 
operate restaurants during the day and nightclubs in the evening.  He added this 
could be considered in the future.   

 
Commissioner Dorsett noted the applicant could have the restaurant, bar, and live 
music and no dance floor. Commissioner Hedrick responded that is open to 
interpretation particularly due to the hours of operation.  Mr. Smith noted they would 
like to expand their hours of operation.  Ms. Hylton added they have been misled 
and that they cannot run a business with 85 customers allowed.   



March 3, 2014 Page 7 

 

Conditional Use Permit request by Holiday Lodge, Inc. for a dancehall at 2790 Roanoke 
Street (tax parcel 501 – ((5)) – 2) in the B-3 General Business District (continued). 

 
Commissioner Cowen asked if approval of the application would limit the business to 
99 people and how they can remain operating as a restaurant.  Ms. Hair responded 
it could be withdrawn, denied, or tabled if there are concerns regarding the use.  
Commissioner Powers added the request could be withdrawn up until Town Council 
votes on it.  Ms. Hylton responded they would like to withdraw the application in that 
case.  Mr. Heinline noted that as long as the tables remain on the dance floor it can 
operate as a restaurant.  
 
Ms. Casper clarified that regardless of the outcome of the application for a 
conditional use permit, they can continue to operate as a restaurant by-right.  Ms. 
Hair noted they could make the decision on how to operate if the request is 
approved.  Ms. Casper added they could use the conditional use permit and 
increase occupancy in the future if they were able to provide a sprinkler system.  
Commissioner Huppert suggested a rent increase to pay for the sprinkler system if 
the owner was interested.   
 
Chairperson Moore noted the conditional use permit could potentially be valid for two 
years.  Commissioner Collins asked how many people have been frequenting the 
business.  Mr. Smith responded approximately 85 on Saturday and 67 on Friday.  
Ms. Hylton asked if a sprinkler system would allow for more people without tables on 
the dance floor.  Ms. Hair responded yes assuming the conditional use permit is 
approved by Town Council.  Commissioner Hedrick asked about tabling the request 
until the building is sprinkled.  Commissioner Powers responded the Planning 
Commission must act on it within a reasonable amount of time.  Commissioner 
Dorsett noted the applicant can continue to operate as is and with an approved 
request, they have two years to put in a sprinkler system and increase occupancy.   
 
Commissioner Collins suggested adding a sign to the property.  Ms. Justice noted 
they would like to make the establishment a better place.  Commissioner Collins 
asked about the ID process.  Ms. Justice responded they double-check IDs; once to 
enter and then again at the bar.  Mr. Smith noted underage patrons can eat dinner 
but cannot come in for the bands.  Ms. Hylton responded they check IDs with no 
exceptions.  Commissioner Hedrick recommended checking in with the neighbors. 
Ms. Hylton added they want to change the reputation of the business.   
 
Chairperson Moore reviewed the drafted conditions:  
 
1. This permit shall be revocable for violations of Chapter 4 “Advertising” of the 

Christiansburg Town Code occurring on the property. 
2. This permit is subject to inspections and approval of the facilities by the Fire 

Marshall and Building Official. 
3. The facility is limited to no more than 6 pool tables. 
4. This permit shall be subject to review by the Planning Commission in one year. 



 March 3, 2014 Page 8 

 

Conditional Use Permit request by Holiday Lodge, Inc. for a dancehall at 2790 Roanoke 
Street (tax parcel 501 – ((5)) – 2) in the B-3 General Business District (continued). 

 
Commissioner Dorsett added she would like to condition hours of operation.  
Commissioner Dorsett asked about controlling noise in the parking lot.  Ms. Hylton 
responded they have walkers who check the parking lot but cannot control what 
goes on at the hotel.  She added they fenced in the patio to avoid people sneaking in 
liquor.  After discussion, Commissioners came to a consensus on the following 
additional conditions: 
 
5. All entertainment, including but not limited to bands, karaoke and djs, shall end 

by 11:00 p.m. on Sunday, Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday nights 
and by 1 a.m. on Saturday and Sunday mornings. 

6. Before this Conditional Use Permit may be utilized for the operation of a 
dancehall/nightclub with more than 99 occupants, a sprinkler system will be 
required to be installed per Building Code. 

7. This permit is nontransferable and to remain with the applicant, Holiday Lodge, 
Inc. 

8. The property is to be maintained in a clean, sanitary, and sightly manner. 
 

Chairperson Moore asked staff for any additional thoughts on conditions.  Chief 
Sisson responded no and he will report back on the data when the permit is 
reviewed.   
 
Ms. Hair reviewed the drafted conditions: 
1. This permit shall be revocable for violations of Chapter 4 “Advertising” of the 

Christiansburg Town Code occurring on the property. 
2. This permit is subject to inspections and approval of the facilities by the Fire 

Marshall and Building Official. 
3. The facility is limited to no more than 6 pool tables. 
4. This permit shall be subject to review by the Planning Commission in one year. 
5. All entertainment, including but not limited to bands, karaoke and djs, shall end 

by 11:00 p.m. on Sunday, Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday nights 
and by 1 a.m. on Saturday and Sunday mornings. 

6. Before this Conditional Use Permit may be utilized for the operation of a 
dancehall/nightclub with more than 99 occupants, a sprinkler system will be 
required to be installed per Building Code. 

7. This permit is nontransferable and to remain with the applicant, Holiday Lodge, 
Inc. 

8. The property is to be maintained in a clean, sanitary, and sightly manner. 
This permit shall be revocable for violations of Chapter 4 “Advertising” of the 
Christiansburg Town Code occurring on the property. 

9. This permit is subject to inspections and approval of the facilities by the Fire 
Marshall and Building Official. 

10. The facility is limited to no more than 6 pool tables. 
11. This permit shall be subject to review by the Planning Commission in one year. 



March 3, 2014 Page 9 

 

 

Conditional Use Permit request by Holiday Lodge, Inc. for a dancehall at 2790 Roanoke 
Street (tax parcel 501 – ((5)) – 2) in the B-3 General Business District (continued). 

 
12. All entertainment, including but not limited to bands, karaoke and djs, shall end 

by 11:00 p.m. on Sunday, Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday nights 
and by 1 a.m. on Saturday and Sunday mornings. 

13. Before this Conditional Use Permit may be utilized for the operation of a 
dancehall/nightclub with more than 99 occupants, a sprinkler system will be 
required to be installed per Building Code. 

14. This permit is nontransferable and to remain with the applicant, Holiday Lodge, 
Inc. 

15. The property is to be maintained in a clean, sanitary, and sightly manner. 
 
Commissioner Cowen made a motion to recommend to Town Council the 
Conditional Use Permit be approved with the drafted conditions.  Commissioner 
Franusich seconded the motion which passed 8-0, with Commissioner Hedrick 
abstaining.   

 
Other business. 

 
Chairperson Moore introduced the discussion.  No other business was heard. 
 
   

There being no more business Chairperson Moore adjourned the meeting at 8:45 p.m. 
 
 
 
_______________________________ _______________________________ 
Craig Moore, Chairperson    Nichole Hair, Secretary Non-Voting 





 

 

Resolution of the 
Town of Christiansburg 
Planning Commission 

 
Conditional Use Permit Application 

 
 WHEREAS the Christiansburg Planning Commission, acting upon a request by the Christiansburg 
Town Council to study a request made by Holiday Lodge, Inc. for a dancehall at 2790 Roanoke Street 
(tax parcel 501- ((5)) – 2) in the B-3 General Business District, has found following a duly advertised 
Public Hearing that the public necessity, convenience, general welfare and good zoning practices (permit / 
do not permit) the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to Holiday Lodge, Inc. for a dancehall at 
2790 Roanoke Street (tax parcel 501 – ((5)) – 2) in the B-3 General Business District. 
 
 THEREFORE be it resolved that the Christiansburg Planning Commission (recommends / does not 
recommend) that the Christiansburg Town Council approve the Conditional Use Permit with the following 
conditions: 
 

1. This permit shall be revocable for violations of Chapter 4 “Advertising” of the Christiansburg Town 
Code occurring on the property. 

2. This permit is subject to inspections and approval of the facilities by the Fire Marshall and Building 
Official. 

3. The facility is limited to no more than 6 pool tables. 
4. This permit shall be subject to review by the Planning Commission in one year. 
5. All entertainment, including but not limited to bands, karaoke and djs, shall end by 11:00 p.m. on 

Sunday, Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday nights and by 1 a.m. on Saturday and Sunday 
mornings. 

6. Before this Conditional Use Permit may be utilized for the operation of a dancehall/nightclub with 
more than 99 occupants,  a sprinkler system will be required to be installed per Building Code. 

7. This permit is nontransferable and to remain with the applicant, Holiday Lodge, Inc. 
8. The property is to be maintained in a clean, sanitary, and sightly manner. 

 
Dated this the 3rd day of March 2014. 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Craig Moore, Chairperson 
       Christiansburg Planning Commission 
 



 2790 Roanoke Street C. U. P. application  pg. 2 
 

 

 
The above Resolution was adopted on motion by Cowen seconded by Franusich at a meeting of the 
Planning Commission following the posting of a public hearing notice upon the property and a duly 
advertised Public Hearing on the above request on February 18, 2014.  Upon a call for an aye and nay vote 
on the foregoing resolution, the Commission members present throughout all deliberations on the foregoing 
and voting or abstaining, stood as indicated opposite their names as follows: 
 

 MEMBERS AYES NAYS ABSTAIN ABSENT 
 

 Matthew J. Beasley   X   

 Ann H. Carter         X    

 Harry Collins  X 
 

 Ashley Cowen  X    
 

 M. H. Dorsett, AICP  X   

 

 David Franusich  X   
 

 Jonathan Hedrick        X   
 

 Steve Huppert  X    
 

 Craig Moore, Chairperson             
 

 Joe Powers, Vice-Chairperson  X  
 

 Jennifer D. Sowers         X  
 
 
 
____________________________ ______________________________ 
Craig Moore, Chairperson                Nichole Hair, Secretary Non-voting 
 



 
     Town of Christiansburg, Virginia 24073                    
              100 East Main Street ~ Telephone 540-382-6128 ~ Engineering Fax 540-381-7238 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
ESTABLISHED   
NOVEMBER 10, 1792 
 
INCORPORATED 
JANUARY 7, 1833 
 

MAYOR 

   D. MICHAEL BARBER 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 

   SAMUEL M. BISHOP 

   R. CORD HALL 

   STEVE HUPPERT  

   HENRY SHOWALTER        

   BRADFORD J. “BRAD” STIPES  

   JAMES W. “JIM” VANHOOZIER  

       

TOWN MANAGER 

   BARRY D. HELMS 

 

 DIRECTOR OF FINANCE/  

 TOWN TREASURER 

   VALERIE L. TWEEDIE 

 

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

   MICHELE M. STIPES 

 

TOWN ATTORNEY 

   GUYNN, MEMMER &  

 DILLON, P.C.     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Town of Christiansburg 
Planning Staff Report 

 
 
Planning Commission Public Hearing Date:  Tuesday, February 18, 2014 at 7:00 p.m. 
Town Council Public Hearing Date:  Tuesday, March 11, 2014 at 7:00 p.m. 
Application Type:  Conditional Use Permit   
Applicant:  Holiday Lodge, Inc.  
Location: 2790 Roanoke Street (tax parcel 501 – ((5)) – 2) 
 
The Town of Christiansburg has received a Conditional Use Permit request by Holiday 
Lodge, Inc. for a dancehall at 2790 Roanoke Street (tax parcel 501 – ((5)) – 2) in the B-3 
General Business District. The property contains approximately 1.4004 acres. The 
property is scheduled as Business/Commercial in the Future Land Use Map of the 
Christiansburg Comprehensive Plan.   
 
The property does not lie within the 100-Year and 500-Year Flood Hazard Areas.  The 
property does not lie within a Historic District. The adjoining properties are zoned B-3 
General Business, and R-3 Multi-Family Residential. The adjoining properties contain 
residences, businesses, and vacant land.   
 



ROANOKE ST

P
A

T
R

IC
IA

 L
N

 S
E

D
U

N
LA

P
 D

R
 N

E

A

A

B-3

B-3

R-1

R-3

B-3

R-1 R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1 ³

CUP REQUEST: 2790 Roanoke Street

PC:FEBRUARY 8, 2104
TC: MARCH 11, 2014

0 200 400 600

Feet

TAX PARCEL
501 - ((5)) - 2



ROANOKE ST

PATRICIA LN

HA
MP

TO
N 

BL
VD

DU
NL

AP
 D

R

³

PC: FEBRUARY 18, 2014
CUP REQUEST: 2790 ROANOKE STREET

TC: MARCH 11, 2014

0 100 200 300

Feet

Legend
501-((5))-2



Tax Map # Owner (s) Mailing Address City, St, Zip

CUP: 2790 ROANOKE STREET - DANCEHALL - 2014

501-   5  1 SHREE SAI BABA LLC DBA SUPER 8 MOTEL 2780 ROANOKE ST CHRISTIANSBURG VA 24073
501-   5  2 HOLIDAY LODGE INC 510 B SOUTH MAIN ST BLACKSBURG VA 24060
501-  13 11 LAWRENCE JAMES M LAWRENCE AMALIA W 378 LAWRENCE RD BLUEFIELD VA 24605
501-  13 A HAMILTON PL HOMEOWNERS ASSOC CHRISTIANSBURG VA 24073
501-   1 26A SHAH DEVELOPMENT LLC P O BOX 1499 CHRISTIANSBURG VA 24068
501-   1 27 CHRISTIAN GROWTH CENTER INC 1850 ELECTRIC WAY CHRISTIANSBURG VA 24073

1





MEMORANDUM 

TO: 	Nichole Hair, CZA 
Planning Director/Zoning Administrator 

FROM: 	Theresa J. Fontana, Guynn, Memmer & Dillon, P.C., Town Attorneys 4/r DATE: 	February 26, 2014 

SUBJECT: 	Virginia Code § 15.2-912.3- Regulation of dance halls by counties, cities, and 
towns. 

This memo is in response to the question you recently raised concerning whether Virginia Code 
§ 15.2-912.3 defines a public dance hall for the purposes of the Town’s zoning ordinance. In 
short, the answer is no. Section 15.2-912.3 was enacted to give towns (and other localities) the 
authority to regulate "public dance halls" as defined therein to the extent that a town may require 
a special permit, require the payment of a license tax, and require the dance hall to operate 
pursuant to certain enacted rules and regulations. 

To be clear, this statute has no bearing on the Town’s zoning ordinance and whether a CUP may 
be required for the business at issue. 

Attachment: 

Virginia Code § 15.2-912.3 

(00064469.DOCX ) 



2/24/2014 
	

LIS> Code of Virginia> 15.2-912.3 

pre  I next 

§ 15.2-912.3. Regulation of dance halls by counties, cities and towns. 

For the purposes of this section, ’public dance hail" means any place open to the general public where dancing is permitted; 
however, a restaurant located in any city licensed under § 4.1-210 to serve food and beverages having a dance floor with an 
area not exceeding 10 percent of the total floor area of the establishment shall not be considered a public dance hail. 

Any locality may by ordinance regulate public dance halls in such locality, and prescribe punishment for violation of such 
ordinance not to exceed that prescribed for a Class 3 misdemeanor. 

Such ordinance shall prescribe for: (i) the issuance of permits to operate public dance halls, grounds for revocation and 
procedure for revocation of such permits; (ii) a license tax not to exceed $600 on every person operating or conducting any 
such dance hall; and (iii) rules and regulations for the operation of such dance halls. Such ordinances may exempt from their 
operation dances held for benevolent or charitable purposes and dances conducted under the auspices of religious, 
educational, civic or military organizations. 

No county ordinance adopted under the provisions of this section shall be in effect in any town in which an ordinance 
adopted under the provisions of this section is in effect. 

(Code 1950, § 18.1-354; 1960, c. 358; 1962, c. 620; 1975, cc. 14, 15, § 18.2-433; 1978, c. 661; 1993, c. 866; 2004, C. 

Prey  I next I new search I table of contents I home 

http:/Ileg 1.state.\a.us/cg  i-bin/leg p504.e?000+cod+ 15.2-912.3 	 1/1 











































 

 

Resolution of the 
Town of Christiansburg 
Planning Commission 

 
Conditional Use Permit Application 

 
 WHEREAS the Christiansburg Planning Commission, acting upon a request by the Christiansburg 
Town Council to study a request made by Twin Oak Properties for a commercial garage at 1230 Roanoke 
Street (tax parcels 498 – ((7)) – 17 and 18) in the B-3 General Business District, has found following a 
duly advertised Public Hearing that the public necessity, convenience, general welfare and good zoning 
practices (permit / do not permit) the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to Twin Oak Properties 
for a commercial garage at 1230 Roanoke Street (tax parcels 498 – ((7)) – 17 and 18) in the B-3 General 
Business District. 
 
 THEREFORE be it resolved that the Christiansburg Planning Commission (recommends / does not 
recommend) that the Christiansburg Town Council approve the Conditional Use Permit with the following 
conditions: 
 

1. The property is to be maintained in a clean, sanitary, and sightly manner. 
2. This permit is for a commercial garage, not a body shop or towing service or for conducting 

bodywork. 
3. All parts, including faulty parts, tires, etc. are to be kept inside the garage or a fully enclosed 

building (including a roof) until disposal. 
4. All waste petroleum products and/or chemicals are to be disposed of properly and are not to 

accumulate upon the premises.  Provisions are to be made for the capture of leaking petroleum 
products and/or chemicals. 

5. There will be no storage of vehicles upon the premises except for vehicles occasionally left for 
repair.  All vehicles left for repair are to be kept on-premises and not within any public right-of-way 
or adjacent property.  All vehicles on the property are to have a State inspection decal that is either 
valid or dated within 90 days of its expiration. 

6. Mechanical work is to be done inside the building and not outside. 
7. There are to be no loud offensive noises so as to constitute a nuisance to the residential properties in 

the vicinity. 
8. There are to be no discernible noises to residential properties in the nearby vicinity between 7:00 

p.m. and 7:00 a.m. 
9. This permit shall be revocable for violations of Chapter 4 “Advertising” of the Christiansburg Town 

Code occurring on the property. 
10. This permit is subject to inspections and approval of the facilities by the Fire Marshall and Building 

Official. 
11. This permit is subject to the requirement of a site plan to be reviewed and approved by Town staff. 
12. This permit shall be subject to review by the Planning Commission in one year. 

 
 
Dated this the 3rd day of March 2014. 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Craig Moore, Chairperson 
       Christiansburg Planning Commission 



 1230 Roanoke Street C. U. P. application  pg. 2 
 

 

 
 
 
The above Resolution was adopted on motion by Dorsett seconded by Hedrick at a meeting of the Planning 
Commission following the posting of a public hearing notice upon the property and a duly advertised Public 
Hearing on the above request on February 18, 2014.  Upon a call for an aye and nay vote on the foregoing 
resolution, the Commission members present throughout all deliberations on the foregoing and voting or 
abstaining, stood as indicated opposite their names as follows: 
 

 MEMBERS AYES NAYS ABSTAIN ABSENT 
 

 Matthew J. Beasley   X   

 Ann H. Carter         X         

 Harry Collins  X 
 

 Ashley Cowen  X     
 

 M. H. Dorsett, AICP  X   

 

 David Franusich  X   
 

 Jonathan Hedrick  X  
 

 Steve Huppert  X   
 

 Craig Moore, Chairperson  X            
 

 Joe Powers, Vice-Chairperson  X  
 

 Jennifer D. Sowers         X  
 
 
 
____________________________ ______________________________ 
Craig Moore, Chairperson                Nichole Hair, Secretary Non-voting 
 



 
     Town of Christiansburg, Virginia 24073                    
              100 East Main Street ~ Telephone 540-382-6128 ~ Engineering Fax 540-381-7238 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
ESTABLISHED   
NOVEMBER 10, 1792 
 
INCORPORATED 
JANUARY 7, 1833 
 

MAYOR 

   D. MICHAEL BARBER 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 

   SAMUEL M. BISHOP 

   R. CORD HALL 

   STEVE HUPPERT  

   HENRY SHOWALTER        

   BRADFORD J. “BRAD” STIPES  

   JAMES W. “JIM” VANHOOZIER  

       

TOWN MANAGER 

   BARRY D. HELMS 

 

 DIRECTOR OF FINANCE/  

 TOWN TREASURER 

   VALERIE L. TWEEDIE 

 

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

   MICHELE M. STIPES 

 

TOWN ATTORNEY 

   GUYNN, MEMMER &  

 DILLON, P.C.     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Town of Christiansburg 
Planning Staff Report 

 
 
Planning Commission Public Hearing Date:  Tuesday, February 18, 2014 at 7:00 p.m. 
Town Council Public Hearing Date:  Tuesday, March 11, 2014 at 7:00 p.m. 
Application Type:  Conditional Use Permit   
Applicant:  Twin Oak Properties, LLC 
Location: 1230 Roanoke Street (tax parcels 498 – ((7)) – 17 and 18) 
 
The Town of Christiansburg has received a Conditional Use Permit request by Twin 
Oak Properties, LLC for a commercial garage at 1230 Roanoke Street (tax parcels 498 – 
((7)) – 17 and 18) in the B-3 General Business District. The property contains 
approximately .389 acres. The property is scheduled as Business/Commercial in the 
Future Land Use Map of the Christiansburg Comprehensive Plan.   
 
The property does not lie within the 100-Year and 500-Year Flood Hazard Areas.  The 
property does not lie within a Historic District. The adjoining properties are zoned B-3 
General Business, and R-1 Single Family. The adjoining properties contain residences, 
businesses, and vacant land.   
 



ROANOKE ST

SCOTT ST NE

HANS MEADOW RD NE

BARKWOOD ST SE

A
R

R
O

W
H

E
A

D
 T

R
L 

S
E

H
U

N
G

AT
E

 S
T 

N
E

D
EPOT ST NE

THORN CIR SE

F
LA

G
G

 C
T

 N
E

R-1

R-1

B-3

B-3

R-3

B-3

B-3I-2 R-1
R-1

R-3

R-1

B-3
R-3

R-3

R-1

I-2

I-1

³

CUP REQUEST: 1230 Roanoke Street

PC:FEBRUARY 8, 2104
TC: MARCH 11, 2014

0 200 400 600

Feet

TAX PARCELS
498 - ((7)) - 17,18



SCOTT ST

ROANOKE ST

HANS MEADOW RD

BA
RK

WO
OD

 S
T

HU
NG

AT
E S

T

SHERWOOD DR

AR
RO

W
HE

AD
 TR

L

THORN DR

JUSTIN LN

FLAGG CT

³

PC: FEBRUARY 18, 2014
CUP REQUEST: 1230 ROANOKE STREET

TC: MARCH 11, 2014

0 100 200 300

Feet

Legend
498-((7))-17,18



Tax Map # Owner (s) Mailing Address City, St, Zip

CUP: 1230 Roanoke Street - commerical garage - 2014

498-   A103A VARNEY TERESA C 1225 SCOTT ST CHRISTIANSBURG VA 24073
498-   A103 SIMMONS LUMMON T JR SIMMONS CHERYLL P 1235 SCOTT ST CHRISTIANSBURG VA 24073
498-   A104 EASTRIDGE CHRISTOPHER C EASTRIDGE TRACEY D 1245 SCOTT ST CHRISTIANSBURG VA 24073
498-   A113 JERRY MICHAEL STONE & MARY EVELYN STONE REV LIVING TR 3555 TYLER RD CHRISTIANSBURG VA 24073
498-   A113A COOK FAMILY TRUST C/O CHEROKEE R COOK P O BOX 3562 RADFORD VA 24143
498-   7 14,15,16 MOSES PROPERTIES LLC 1460 PINE ST CHRISTIANSBURG VA 24073
498-   7 17,18 TWIN OAKS PROPERTIES  LLC 1733 WHITE OAK LN CHRISTIANSBURG VA 24073
498-   7 18A,19,20* COOK FAMILY TRUST C/O CHEROKEE R COOK P O BOX 3562 RADFORD VA 24143
528-   A 92 AGGARWAL RAKESH 127 S WASHINGTON ST PULASKI VA 24301



Ord. 2014-__ 

1 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 28 “SOLID WASTE” OF THE 
CHRISTIANSBURG TOWN CODE IN REGARDS TO DEFINITIONS, 

TOWN-ISSUED GARBAGE CARTS, GARBAGE COLLECTION, 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

  
WHEREAS, the Town of Christiansburg owns and maintains solid waste disposal 

equipment and operates same for the benefit of its garbage collection customers; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, a public hearing of Council of the Town was held March 11, 2014 
and, 
 

WHEREAS, in order to effectively operate and maintain its solid waste disposal 
equipment and efficiently provide garbage collection service, the Town must have 
appropriate regulations for such service; 
 

THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Council of the Town of Christiansburg, 
Virginia that it hereby amends Sections 28-1, 28-32, 28-33, 28-34, 28-35, 28-37, 28-40, 
28-41, 28-43, 28-44, 28-45, 28-46, 28-47, 28-49, 28-52, and 28-54 and repeals Section 
28-36, 28-50, and 28-53 of Chapter 28 “Solid Waste” of the Christiansburg Town Code 
as follows: 
 

ARTICLE I. IN GENERAL 
 
 

Sec. 28-1. Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall 
have the meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context 
clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Ashes means ashes, cinders or clinkers. 

Bulk item means any large item not placed within a Town-issued garbage 
cart or dumpster, including but not limited to a major household appliance, large 
rug, mattress, bed springs, or furniture. 

Garbage means refuse and waste, such as vegetable or animal matter, 
that attends the preparation, use, cooking, dealing or storing of same or any 
other matter that is subject to decay or fermentation, but excludes dishwater, 
rubbish and ashes. 

Garbage collection service means the collection of garbage, rubbish, 
trash and ashes by the town. 

Hazardous material means “hazardous material” as define in Code of 
Virginia § 10.1-1400, as amended. 



Ord. 2014-__ 

2 
 

Hazardous substance means “hazardous substance” as define in Code of 
Virginia § 10.1-1400, as amended. 

Hazardous waste means “hazardous waste” as define in Code of Virginia 
§ 10.1-1400, as amended. 

Household hazardous waste means “household hazardous waste” as 
define in Code of Virginia § 10.1-1400, as amended. 

Rubbish or trash means paper, floor sweepings, old discarded clothing, 
boots and shoes, bottles, broken glass, tin cans and all such rubbish that 
accumulates from a household or business, except ashes or other heavy 
materials. 

Sludge means “sludge” as define in Code of Virginia § 10.1-1400, as 
amended. 

Tree, brush or shrubbery means tree trimmings, brush and shrubbery with 
limbs not in excess of four inches in diameter and cut into pieces. 

(Code 1972, § 15-1; Code 1992, § 24-1)  

Sec. 28-2. Authority of health officer, etc. 

The health officer or other duly authorized official, as appointed by the 
town manager, shall have the authority to visit the premises or building of any 
resident, housekeeper, hotel, restaurant or storekeeper at any reasonable time 
and to make inspection of garbage, refuse, waste or ashes and to order the 
proper handling and disposition of same.  

(Code 1972, § 15-2; Code 1992, § 24-2)  

Sec. 28-3. Sweeping and depositing certain materials in streets, etc. 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to deposit or cause to be deposited upon the 
sidewalks, streets, roads, lanes or alleys or in any catchbasin or drain paper, rags, 
old shoes, clothing, tin cans, bottles, fruit or vegetable peelings, dead animals, 
leaves or any other refuse or waste.  

(b) It shall be unlawful for any householder, storekeeper or other person, by himself or 
his agent, to sweep from any house, yard or store any dirt or refuse in or upon any 
sidewalk or public street, lane, road or alley.  

(c) All such material shall be placed in receptacles and disposed of as provided in this 
chapter. However, the owner has the option of making proper disposition by himself 



Ord. 2014-__ 

3 
 

or his agent and in all such cases must haul and deposit such material in an 
approved disposal facility.  

(Code 1972, § 15-3; Code 1992, § 24-3)  

Sec. 28-4. Dumping ashes in streets, etc., prohibited; exception. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to dump ashes or other such materials 
in any street, road, lane, alley or drain within the town, except by special 
permission of the town manager.  

(Code 1972, § 15-4; Code 1992, § 24-4)  

Sec. 28-5. Accumulation of refuse or garbage. 

Any person allowing refuse or garbage to accumulate on his premises in 
a manner that would become offensive or unsanitary shall be guilty of creating a 
nuisance.  

(Code 1972, § 15-5; Code 1992, § 24-5)  

Sec. 28-6. General penalty. 

Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, a violation of any provisions 
of this chapter shall constitute a Class 1 misdemeanor.  

(Code 1992, § 24-6)  

Secs. 28-7—28-30. Reserved. 

 
 

ARTICLE II. COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL OF GARBAGE, REFUSE, ETC. 
 
 

Sec. 28-31. Where garbage collection service to be provided. 



Ord. 2014-__ 

4 
 

(a) The town shall provide garbage collection service on the terms and conditions set 
out in this article only to citizens, residents and business establishments located 
within the corporate limits of the town.  

(b) However, in those instances where the established route of the garbage truck 
causes it to pass through an area outside the corporate limits of the town, garbage 
pickup service may then be provided with the approval of the town manager to 
residents of that area requesting such service.  

(c) The aforementioned established route or routes shall be subject to change at any 
time and should such change occur, garbage pickup service to residents along the 
former route shall then be discontinued.  

(Code 1972, § 15-6; Code 1992, § 24-31)  

Sec. 28-32. Garbage cans or commercial plastic garbage bags carts to be 
provided by householders, etc. Town; use of Town-issued garbage carts. 

All householders or occupants of any residence, apartment or trailer and 
all operators of hotels, motor courts, restaurants, lodginghouses, boardinghouses 
or other business houses shall provide themselves with one or more standard, 
commercial plastic garbage bags not greater than 50 pounds or watertight 
garbage cans or containers of a capacity of not less than ten and not exceeding 
32 gallons and not greater than 100 pounds. Each such receptacle or can shall 
be equipped to prevent access of flies and other insects, rodents, dogs or other 
animals. Such plastic bags, cans or receptacles shall be used for all garbage set 
out for removal by the town according to the provisions of this article. locations 
with garbage collection service shall be provided garbage carts by the Town 
unless serviced by dumpster garbage collection service.  Such garbage carts 
issued by the Town of Christiansburg shall remain the property of the Town of 
Christiansburg.  Customers who move outside the garbage collection service 
area or who otherwise cease garbage collection service with the Town are 
obligated to return the Town-issued garbage cart within 30 days of cessation of 
service.  Customers who move within the garbage collection service area are 
obligated to notify the Town utility billing staff of any address change prior to or 
upon relocation. 

The Town-issued garbage carts shall be used for all garbage set out by 
the garbage customer for removal by the Town according to the provisions of this 
article.  Customers shall adhere to a maximum weight limitation of 300 pounds 
for 96-gallon Town-issued garbage carts and 150 pounds for 48-gallon Town-
issued garbage carts. 

It shall be unlawful for any individual or business to utilize Town-issued 
garbage carts for disposal of garbage, refuse, waste, etc. in carts that are 
assigned to other customers.  It shall be the responsibility of all customers to 
properly identify their Town-issued garbage cart.  Determination of whether or not 
Town-issued garbage carts are being utilized by a properly assigned customer 
shall be done by the Town in accordance with individual Town-issued garbage 



Ord. 2014-__ 

5 
 

cart identification numbers and their corresponding account information in the 
records of the Town. 

 (Code 1972, § 15-7; Code 1992, § 24-32)  

Sec. 28-33. Containers Town-issued garbage carts to be drained of excessive 
moisture. 

All cans or containers Town-issued garbage carts, as provided for in 
section 28-32, shall be drained of any excessive moisture before being set out for 
removal.  

(Code 1972, § 15-8; Code 1992, § 24-33)  

Sec. 28-34. Use of paper or pasteboard boxes, plastic bags, etc. as containers 
prohibited. 

No paper or pasteboard boxes, plastic bags, etc. shall be used as 
containers for garbage, rubbish, trash or ashes set for collection. Only Town-
issued garbage carts or dumpsters are acceptable for Town garbage collection 
service. 

(Code 1972, § 15-9; Code 1992, § 24-34)  

Sec. 28-35. Town cleanup; tree trimmings and brush hauling. 

(a) The town shall provide tree and brush hauling and other town approved materials at 
no charge during the special two weeks of cleanup during the spring and two weeks 
in the fall within the corporate limits of the town. Cleanup shall be for residences and 
churches only and shall be limited to materials generated on the residential or 
church premises of the pick-up only. Town council shall have the authority to cancel 
cleanup.  

(b) Tree and brush trimmings may be tied in small bundles or placed in containers and 
placed with the regular garbage for pickup by the garbage trucks during normal 
garbage pickup.  

(c) At all other times, tree Tree trimmings and brush pickup service shall be provided on 
an on-call basis during normal working hours, provided they are placed next to the 
street right-of-way. When such services are provided to any person or business, 
there shall be a charge, as provided for in section 28-44(f).  



Ord. 2014-__ 

6 
 

(Code 1972, § 15-10; Code 1992, § 24-35)  

Sec. 28-36. Containers for rubbish and trash. 

Rubbish and trash may be placed in the same can, container or plastic 
bag provided for garbage. Where rubbish and trash are to be placed in separate 
containers, then the containers shall be either of wood, plastic or metal, but not 
exceeding four cubic feet capacity. Such containers shall be provided with 
handles and tightfitting lids for sanitary reasons and to prevent scattering.  

(Code 1972, § 15-11; Code 1992, § 24-36)  

Sec. 28-37. Ashes and ash containers Prohibited materials. 

No hot ashes or embers shall be permitted in garbage or garbage 
containers placed for town collection.  

Placing hazardous waste, hazardous substances, household hazardous 
waste, biohazardous waste, sludge, pharmaceutical waste, pressurized 
containers, combustible or explosive material, construction waste, electronic 
waste, hot ashes or embers, human excreta (excluding diapers), animal manure 
(excluding household pets),dead animals or portions of dead animals, automotive 
waste including tires and batteries, grease from restaurants or other business 
uses, liquids, appliances, earth, tree stumps, asphalt, brick, concrete, bulk items, 
and similar materials for collection in either Town-issued garbage carts or 
dumpsters shall be prohibited. 

(Code 1972, § 15-12; Code 1992, § 24-37)   

Sec. 28-38. Garbage, etc., to be set out for collection according to schedule. 

All garbage, rubbish, trash and ashes shall be set out for removal at 
regular periods according to schedule.  

(Code 1972, § 15-14; Code 1992, § 24-39)  

Sec. 28-39. Accumulation of garbage, etc., prohibited. 



Ord. 2014-__ 

7 
 

Garbage, tree and brush trimmings, trash and ashes shall not be allowed 
to accumulate, causing a large quantity to be set out for collection at one time.  

(Code 1972, § 15-15; Code 1992, § 24-40)  

Sec. 28-40. Garbage collection crew not to enter building to remove garbage, 
etc.; garbage cart assistance. 

The garbage collection crew shall not enter any building to remove 
garbage, rubbish, trash or ashes regardless of whether or not such materials is 
within Town-issued garbage carts.  The garbage collection crew shall remove 
Town-issued garbage carts only through request by the customer through the 
Town’s Garbage Cart Assistance Form application process.  The Town reserves 
the right to deny any request through the Town’s Garbage Cart Assistance Form 
application process without proper medical documentation regarding the inability 
to perform the removal of the Town-issued garbage cart(s) by all individuals 
residing at the customer service location. 

(Code 1972, § 15-17; Code 1992, § 24-41)  

Sec. 28-41. Town garbage truck not to remove unprepared garbage, etc.; duty 
of owner or tenant. 

(a) The town garbage truck shall not haul away any garbage, rubbish, trash, ashes, 
etc., that are not prepared and placed in suitable containers, as provided in this 
article. The Town has the right to specify particular pick-up locations for each 
individual Town-issued garbage cart and it shall be the responsibility of the 
customer to insure that the Town-issued garbage cart is in the specified pick-up 
location and oriented as directed by the Town. 

(b) Any matter set out for collection which does not comply with the provisions of this 
article will not be collected by the town garbage truck, but must be removed by the 
owner or tenant of the premises involved.  

(Code 1972, § 15-18; Code 1992, § 24-42)  

Sec. 28-42. Town garbage truck not to remove loose leaves, refuse, etc., from 
building operations. 

The town garbage truck shall not haul away loose leaves, grass, cuttings, 
weed or hedge trimmings, tree trimmings, branches, limbs or similar matter, nor 
refuse and trash, from building operations.  



Ord. 2014-__ 

8 
 

(Code 1972, § 15-19; Code 1992, § 24-43)  

Sec. 28-43. Service charges—Residential and domestic. 

(a) Residential garbage service. For a minimum fee, as set forth herein or as 
established in the latest edition of the town garbage service fee schedule, which 
may be amended from time to time by town council, payable and billed along with 
water and sewer services, the town will provide one weekly pickup and disposal of 
garbage, rubbish, trash, ashes, etc., not exceeding the contents of three 32-gallon 
containers or the equivalent volume of smaller containers in Town-issued garbage 
carts. The basis of the fee computation shall be on a single-family unit using a 
maximum of not more than three 32-gallon containers or the equivalent volume of 
smaller containers single Town-issued garbage cart to be picked up by the garbage 
collection truck once a week.  Users utilizing additional Town-issued garbage carts 
shall be billed per additional Town-issued garbage cart at a rate specified in the 
Town Garbage Service Fee Schedule, which may be amended from time to time by 
Town Council.  If all occupants of a customer service location are not physically 
capable of utilizing 96-gallon Town-issued carts they may request two 48-gallon 
Town-issued carts through the Town’s Garbage Cart Request Form but will be billed 
at a rate equivalent to only one 96-gallon Town issued cart.  The Town reserves the 
right to deny any request through the Town’s Garbage Cart Request Form 
application process without proper medical documentation regarding the inability to 
utilize the Town-issued 96-gallon garbage cart by all individuals residing at the 
customer service location.  The Town shall change customers a fee as specified in 
the Town Garbage Service Fee Schedule for changing Town-issued garbage cart 
sizes. 

(b) Outside town. The minimum fee for the above collection outside the corporate limits 
shall be as set forth herein or as established in the latest edition of the town garbage 
utilities service fee schedule, which may be amended from time to time by town 
council.  

(c) Excess volume. With the exception of bagged leaves, for all All garbage, rubbish, 
trash and ashes set out for collection, the volume of which exceeds the maximum of 
three 32-gallon containers, there will be an additional charge as set forth herein or 
as established in the latest edition of the town garbage service fee schedule, which 
may be amended from time to time by town council shall be contained with Town-
issued garbage carts.  Excess volume that is not contained within Town-issued 
garbage carts will not be picked up. 

(d) Apartments condominiums, townhouses, and other buildings having multiple units—
Fee and dumpster requirement provisions. For apartment houses, condominiums, 
and other buildings having multifamily multiple units, excluding townhouses, the 
minimum fee for garbage collection service shall be for each family unit in the same 
building.  Apartment houses, condominiums, and other buildings having multiple 
units with 8 or more units or any customer service location requesting more than 
four Town-issued garbage carts shall be required to have dumpster service.  
Townhouses are eligible for individual billing at the regular billing rate for individual 
customers.  The Town may require dumpster service for any apartment house, 



Ord. 2014-__ 

9 
 

condominium, townhouse, or other development when the Town makes 
determination that Town-issued garbage cart service is not practical due to 
maneuverability or other operational issues caused by topography or other site 
constraints. 

(e) Same—Billing. In apartment houses and other buildings having multifamily units, the 
same owner, agent or tenant who is responsible for the payment of water and sewer 
service bills shall also be responsible for all the fees for garbage collection services 
in such buildings and shall be billed according to rates contained in this article.  

(f) Tree and brush hauling. The minimum fee chargeable for a town pickup of tree 
trimmings and brush shall be as set forth herein or as established in the latest 
edition of the town garbage service fee schedule, which may be amended from time 
to time by town council. Charges for a full or partial truck load or more shall be as 
set forth herein or as established in the latest edition of the town garbage service 
fee schedule, which may be amended from time to time by town council. 

 (g) Repair and replacement. Customers are responsible for repair or replacement costs 
of Town-issued garbage carts at a rate established in the latest edition of the town 
garbage service fee schedule, which may be amended from time to time by Town 
Council, when the Town makes determination that damage or disappearance of the 
Town-issued garbage cart is not the responsibility of the Town or through normal 
regular use. 

(Code 1992, § 24-44; Ord. of 6-18-1991(1), § 15-20; Ord. of 2-2-1993; Ord. of 
6-18-1996; Ord. No. 2002-6, 7-2-2002; Ord. No. 2005-3, 6-7-2005; Ord. No. 
2008-3, 6-3-2008)  

Sec. 28-44. Same—Business and commercial. 

(a) Application. All business houses, stores, restaurants, hotels, motorcourts, 
lodginghouses, boardinghouses and other places of business desiring garbage 
collection service from the town shall make applications therefor on forms provided 
and shall state thereon approximately how many containers Town-issued garbage 
carts will be set out for collection and how many times per week such service is 
desired. 

(b) Fees determined. Respective monthly fees shall be determined on the written 
applications submitted before the service begins, and all fees shall be billed along 
with the water and sewer service.  

(c) Direct billing. In certain cases that do not receive a water bill, the billing will be direct 
for the garbage collection services and shall be paid and under the same rules and 
regulations as water and sewer service bills.  

(d) Fees adjusted. After such service is put into operation, if it should be found that the 
estimated volume of collection from any one place is more or less than was 
anticipated, the fees will be adjusted to meet the prevailing conditions; provided, 
further, that such fees may have to be adjusted from time to time as conditions 
warrant.  



Ord. 2014-__ 

10 
 

(e) Amount of fees. The fees for business and commercial garbage collection services 
shall be as set forth herein or as established in the latest edition of the town garbage 
service fee schedule, which may be amended from time to time by town council.  

(f) Dumpster fee. Dumpsters shall be charged as set forth herein or as established in 
the latest edition of the town garbage service fee schedule which may be amended 
from time to time by town council.  

(g) Bulky or heavy material. For the collection of some special types of bulky or heavy 
material the nature of which cannot be measured by containers Town-issued 
garbage carts, the charge shall be based on the volume and time consumed to 
effect a pickup.  

(Code 1992, § 24-45; Ord. of 6-18-1991(1), § 15-21; Ord. of 2-2-1993; Ord. No. 
2002-6, 7-2-2002; Ord. No. 2005-3, 6-7-2005; Ord. No. 2008-3, 6-3-2008)  

Sec. 28-45. Collection procedure and schedule—Residential sections and 
business sections with family units over stores, etc. 

(a) In residential sections of the town, all collections of garbage, rubbish, trash, ashes, 
etc., shall be made after 8:00 a.m. and according to a schedule that covers certain 
sections of the town each day.  

(b) Containers Town-issued garbage carts that are to be picked up shall be placed by 
8:00 a.m. on the day designated in the collection schedule on the street at or near 
the property line, so that they can conveniently be picked up and emptied. Such 
containers Town-issued garbage carts shall be removed from the street by the 
owner not later than 6:00 p.m. of the same day and placed out of view from the 
street, placed within 3 feet from the front facade of the main structure, or as 
otherwise approved by the Town Manager or his designee.  

(c) In business sections of the town where family units are located in apartments over 
stores or other business places, collections shall be made in the morning, and all 
material to be collected shall be set out for collection by 8:00 a.m. one day each 
week according to the schedule. All containers Town-issued garbage carts after 
being emptied shall on the same day be removed from the street and placed out of 
view, placed within 3 feet from the front facade of the main structure, or as 
otherwise approved by the Town Manager or his designee. This duty shall be the 
responsibility of the same person that sets out the container Town-issued garbage 
cart for collection.  

(Code 1972, § 15-22; Code 1992, § 24-46)  

Sec. 28-46. Same—Business sections generally. 

In business sections of the town, collections of garbage, rubbish, trash, 
ashes, etc., shall be made each day. All containers Town-issued garbage carts 
shall be placed for collection by 8:00 a.m. on the day designated in the collection 



Ord. 2014-__ 

11 
 

schedule for each place desiring garbage collection service. Where possible, all 
garbage, rubbish, trash, ashes, etc., shall be placed for collection at the rear of 
business houses. In those cases where it is not possible for garbage, rubbish, 
trash, ashes, etc., to be collected from the rear of business houses, the 
containers Town-issued garbage carts shall be placed in front of the sidewalk 
and in all such cases the containers Town-issued garbage carts shall be placed 
on the morning of the day they are to be collected and removed from the 
sidewalk by the owner within an hour after having been emptied by the collecting 
crew, and placed out of view from the street, placed within 3 feet from the front 
facade of the main structure, or as otherwise approved by the Town Manager or 
his designee. This shall not be construed to apply to the business sections 
referred to in section 28-45.  

(Code 1972, § 15-23; Code 1992, § 24-47)  

Sec. 28-47. Maintenance and location of containers, dumpsters, and Town-
issued garbage carts. 

(a) It shall be the duty of the owner of any garbage container or container for 
rubbish, trash or ashes customer to keep such container their assigned Town-
issued garbage cart(s) in a clean and sanitary condition at all times. Lids shall be 
kept on all containers Town-issued garbage carts at all times except when the 
container Town-issued garbage cart is being cleaned, filled or emptied. 
Containers Town-issued garbage carts shall be kept in a place that is out of view 
from the street, placed within 3 feet from the front facade of the main structure, or 
as otherwise approved by the Town Manager or his designee, except when 
placed for collection, and in such place and manner that they will not become 
constitute a nuisance to neighbors adjoining properties. This provision shall apply 
to all sections of the town. 

(b) It shall be the duty of the owner of any container, can, dumpster, or other 
receptacle designed for disposal of garbage or refuse, except public waste 
receptacles or Town-issued garbage carts, to enclose such container, can, 
dumpster or other receptacle with a minimum 8-foot tall gated privacy-type fence 
or wall made of durable material and to maintain such fence and enclosure area 
in a clean and sanitary manner at all times.  Such enclosure shall have a 
minimum 12-foot by 12-foot pad and approach constructed as indicated per the 
Town of Christiansburg Dumpster Detail.  The gate for such enclosure shall 
provide a minimum clear opening of at least 13 feet, be capable of being latched 
open or closed, and shall be maintained as closed when not being utilized for 
access.  Lids shall be kept closed on all such containers, cans, dumpsters and 
other receptacles for garbage or refuse except when being cleaned, filled, or 
emptied and such containers, cans, dumpsters and other receptacles shall be 
maintained in a location and manner that will not constitute a nuisance to 
adjoining properties. 



Ord. 2014-__ 

12 
 

(Code 1972, § 15-24; Code 1992, § 24-48)  

Sec. 28-48. Owner to prevent garbage from being spilled on ground or 
premises. 

It shall be the duty and responsibility of every property owner, tenant, 
occupant or agent of any premises in the town to prevent garbage from being 
spilled on the ground or premises.  

(Code 1972, § 15-25; Code 1992, § 24-49)  

Sec. 28-49. Disposition of garbage and refuse other than through garbage 
collection service. 

Garbage and other refuse disposed of in any other manner than through 
the town garbage collection service, as set forth in this article, shall be disposed 
of in a manner approved by the health department and Town Manager.  

(Code 1972, § 15-26; Code 1992, § 24-50)  

Sec. 28-50. Paper, cartons, etc., to be flattened and put into bundles for 
collection. 

No person shall place on any public street, alley or elsewhere within the 
town limits for collection and removal by the town discarded paper, corrugated 
cartons or pasteboard boxes of any description without first flattening and 
securely tying the same with a stout cord in bundles not exceeding 36 inches in 
length and 50 pounds in weight. 

(Code 1972, § 15-27; Code 1992, § 24-51)  

Sec. 28-51. Dumping within town prohibited. 

No garbage or offensive or disease-producing material or trash shall be 
dumped in any lot or space within the town for the purpose of filling or otherwise.  

(Code 1972, § 15-28; Code 1992, § 24-52)  



Ord. 2014-__ 

13 
 

Sec. 28-52. Placing garbage, etc., in public wastepaper receptacles. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to place in any receptacle that is used 
for the collection of wastepaper on the street or other public places any garbage, 
trash, human excreta, manure from animals or offensive or disease-producing 
material hazardous waste, hazardous substances, household hazardous waste, 
biohazardous waste, sludge, pharmaceutical waste, pressurized containers, 
combustible or explosive material, construction waste, electronic waste, hot 
ashes or embers, human excreta (excluding diapers), animal manure (excluding 
household pets),dead animals or portions of dead animals, automotive waste 
including tires and batteries, grease from restaurants or other business uses, 
liquids, appliances, earth, tree stumps, asphalt, brick, concrete, bulk items, and 
similar materials or to use any such receptacle for general disposal of garbage in 
large volumes.  

(Code 1972, § 15-29; Code 1992, § 24-53)  

Sec. 28-53. Placing human or animal excreta in container set out for removal. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to place in any container set out for 
removal by the town garbage truck any human excreta, excluding diapers or 
manure from animals other than household pets. 

(Code 1972, § 15-30; Code 1992, § 24-54)  

Sec. 28-54. Picking through contents of container set out for removal Town-
issued garbage cart or dumpster. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to pick through, handle or interfere with 
the contents of any container Town-issued garbage cart or dumpster set out for 
removal by the town under the provisions of this article.  Employees of the Town 
or other governmental agencies involved in duly authorized investigations shall 
be exempt from this prohibition. 

(Code 1972, § 15-31; Code 1992, § 24-55)  

Sec. 28-55. Interfering with employees in removal of material. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere with, hinder or obstruct the 
employees of the town in the removal of any material set out for removal under 
this article.  



Ord. 2014-__ 

14 
 

(Code 1972, § 15-32; Code 1992, § 24-56)  

Sec. 28-56. Removal of garbage, rubbish or waste by town. 

If any person violating sections 28-4, 28-5, and 28-51 fails to remove 
such garbage, rubbish or waste after five days' written notice, the town shall 
remove the same and the violator shall pay the town the cost of removing the 
same. The cost of removal shall have no bearing on, or connection with, any 
punishment, fine or court cost that may be imposed.  

(Code 1972, § 15-33; Code 1992, § 24-57)  

Sec. 28-57. General penalty. 

The town shall not be obligated to pick up any solid waste discarded in 
violation of this article. Except as otherwise provided in this article, a violation of 
any provisions of this article shall constitute a Class 1 misdemeanor.  

(Code 1992, § 24-58)  

_______________________ 
 

This ordinance shall become effective April 7, 2014.  If any part of this ordinance 
is deemed unlawful by a court of competent jurisdiction all remaining parts shall be 
deemed valid.  
 

Upon a call for an aye and nay vote on the foregoing ordinance at a regular 
meeting of the Council of the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia held March __, 2014, the 
members of the Council of the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia present throughout all 
deliberations on the foregoing and voting or abstaining, stood as indicated opposite their 
names as follows: 
 

    Aye  Nay  Abstain Absent 
 

Mayor D. Michael Barber* 
 

Samuel M. Bishop       
 

Cord Hall      
 

Steve Huppert        
 

Henry Showalter     
 



Ord. 2014-__ 

15 
 

Bradford J. Stipes     
 

James W. “Jim” Vanhoozier      
 

*Votes only in the event of a tie vote by Council. 

 

 
SEAL: 
 
 
__________________________   ______________________________ 
Michele M. Stipes, Town Clerk   D. Michael Barber, Mayor 
 
 
 




















	Planning Commission meeting minutes - 2014-02-18
	Planning Commission draft meeting minutes 03-03-2014
	2790 Roanoke Street-CUP-dancehall-2014
	Item 3 - 2790 Roanoke Street - 2014 - application
	2790RoanokeStreet-Holiday Lodge, Inc-2014
	Item 3 - 2790 Roanoke Street - 2014 - report
	Item 3 - 2790 Roanoke Street - 2014 - small map
	Item 3 - 2790 Roanoke Street - 2014 - small aerial map
	Item 3 - 2790 Roanoke Street - 2014 - adjoining addresses.pdf
	Item # 5 - building layout
	Item # 5 - Police Data
	Item # 5 - Petition

	1230 Roanoke Street-CUP-commerical garage-2014
	Item 4 - 1230 Roanoke Street - 2014- application
	1230RoanokeStreet-TwinOaksProperties-2014
	Item 4 - 1230 Roanoke Street - 2014 - report
	Item 4 - 1230 Roanoke Street - 2014 - small map
	Item 4 - 1230 Roanoke Street - 2014- small aerial map
	Item 4 - 1230 Roanoke Street - 2014 - adjoining addresses.pdf

	Solid Waste Ordinance - 2014
	Proposed PTO Policy for VRS Hybrid Employees and Related Personnel Handbook Changes

